THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001690

RECEIVED
MAY 12 2014
SC Court of Appeals

The State of South Carolina,.....Respondent,

v.

Kenneth Jowan CraigAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

D. Gregory Placone
Nexsen Pruet LLC
1230 Main Street, Suite 700
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 771-8900

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29201-1589

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court's admission of an out-of-court identification of Appellant deprive him of due process where the witness only identified Appellant after a highly suggestive identification procedure where Appellant's photograph was the only one shown by local news media, and did the trial court also err in admitting the in-court identification of Appellant where the witness only viewed Appellant for less than forty-five seconds during a high-stress encounter after the witness shot and killed another perpetrator?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Spartanburg County grand jury on two counts of armed robbery, one count of possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, eleven counts of attempted armed robbery, with all fourteen counts arising out of the same event or occurrence. (R. pp. 1-2.)

On July 23, 2013, Appellant proceeded to a two day trial before a jury and the Honorable Roger L. Couch. Richard Whelchel, Assistant Public Defender, represented Appellant and Jennifer Jordan and Susan Reese, Assistant Solicitors, represented the State of South Carolina. (R. pp. 3-4; R. p. 8.)

At the conclusion of the trial on July 25, 2013, the jury found Appellant guilty on all fourteen counts. (R. pp. 193-96.) Judge Couch sentenced Appellant as follows: 20 years imprisonment for the armed robbery charges, running concurrently; 10 years for each attempted armed robbery charged, running consecutively to the armed robbery sentence for one count and concurrently for the remaining ten counts; and, finally, 5 years for the possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, running concurrently. (R. pp. 197-98.) Appellant was sentenced to a total of 30 years.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

A. Summary of the Appeal

The trial court committed error in allowing the out-of-court identification of Appellant by a witness to be presented the jury. This identification resulted from unduly suggestive questioning, and created a very real risk of irreparable misidentification of Appellant at trial. For this reason, the subsequent in-court identification of Appellant by the same witness also constituted reversible error, requiring remand for a new trial.

B. Statement of Facts

In the early morning hours of January 21, 2012, two individuals committed an armed robbery of a Waffle House restaurant in Chesnee, South Carolina. Both the restaurant and the restaurant patrons were targeted in the armed robbery. (R. pp. 25-26.) It is undisputed that one perpetrator, the now-deceased Dante Williams (“Mr. Williams”), was armed with a handgun, and the other perpetrator carried a bag to transport the fruits of the crime. (R. p. 25.) Mr. Williams brandished a handgun as he entered the Waffle House, and one perpetrator demanded that the restaurant patrons stay on the floor and follow their orders. (R. pp. 25-26.)

Mr. Williams was shot during the commission of the crime, and died inside the Waffle House that morning. (R. pp. 29-30.) After Mr. Williams was shot, however, the second perpetrator fled the Waffle House, and the identity of that second perpetrator was the central issue at trial. (R. p. 7.) Over the course of a two day trial, the State presented its theory of the case that Kenneth Jowan Craig (“Appellant”) was the second individual with Mr. Williams that morning, and after the conclusion of the trial, the jury returned a verdict consistent with that theory. (R. pp. 7-8.) This conclusion was in part

based on an unduly suggestive out-of-court identification, which resulted in an improper in-court identification of Appellant. (R. pp. 101-02.)

Justin Harrison (“Mr. Harrison”) assumed a central role in the events as they unfolded at the Waffle House and then later as a witness at trial. Being the only witness present at the Waffle House to identify Appellant pretrial, he was integral in developing the State’s theory of the case. Mr. Harrison’s role as a witness began after he decided to dine at the Waffle House after leaving work around midnight on Friday, January 20, 2012. (R. p. 22.) Mr. Harrison possessed a valid concealed weapons permit, and once he arrived at the Waffle House, he carried his holstered handgun into the Waffle House. (R. p. 25.) The events of the robbery escalated quickly, with patrons being forced to floor as they were robbed. (*Id.*) Mr. Williams approached Mr. Harrison with his firearm drawn, which caused Mr. Harrison to believe that Mr. Williams intended to kill him. (R. p. 29.) He responded by fatally shooting Mr. Williams (R. p. 105), or as he put it, “met [Mr. Williams’] force with force.” (*Id.*)

After shooting Mr. Williams, Mr. Harrison turned his attention to the second suspect, who was “backed up” in the corner of the restaurant away from him. (R. p. 30.) The second suspect unsuccessfully attempted to check on the deceased, an action Mr. Harrison took as a threat that the perpetrator wished to arm himself with Mr. Williams’ gun (*id.*), but instead the second perpetrator hurriedly attempted to flee. (R. pp. 30-31.) Mr. Harrison tried to detain the second perpetrator (R. pp. 30, 108), and the two wrestled as the second perpetrator attempted to exit the front door of the Waffle House. (R. p. 31.) That struggle at the lasted a quick thirty to forty-five seconds. (R. p. 87.) An additional shot was discharged from Mr. Harrison’s weapon into the ceiling during the

skirmish (R. pp. 31, 99), and the second perpetrator was able to escape the Waffle House property before law enforcement arrived. (R. p. 109.)

Ultimately, the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Department identified and apprehended Appellant on January 21, 2012, after Mr. Williams' family and friends indicated he was with Appellant during the hours leading up to the robbery on Friday, January 20th. (R. pp. 55-57.) The local news media published the booking photo of Appellant in the relevant news outlets (R. pp. 38, 96), and during the days following the Waffle House robbery, Appellant's likeness was "on the TV and in the newspapers almost constantly" as the story continued to gain interest and notoriety. (R. p. 78.)

As the State's key witness, Mr. Harrison, provided an out-of-court identification of the Appellant three days after the crime on January 24, 2012. (R. pp. 34, 89.) At that time, Investigator Jason Bryant of the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office asked Mr. Harrison if he previously watched the local evening news. (R. pp. 34, 99.) Mr. Harrison was asked if he would be willing to identify the suspect in a police lineup, but responded to Investigator Bryant that the man he saw on the news—expressly identified as the second robber in the media accounts that also depicted Appellant *alone* as the only suspect in their published photographs (R. pp. 96-97)—was the second perpetrator in the Waffle House. (R. p. 98.) Over objections raised by defense counsel, Mr. Harrison was allowed to identify the Appellant at trial. (R. p. 102.)

After Appellant was identified over the phone on January 24, 2012 no further attempts were made to identify the Appellant until he reached trial in July of 2013, some eighteen months later. (R. p. 37.) Additionally, at the time Appellant was arrested, no other victim or witness identified the Appellant as the second actor in the crime. (*Id.*)

Instead, Investigator Bryant used only the photo published by the news media to conduct an identification of the Appellant. (R. p. 38.)

Defense counsel moved that Judge Couch suppress the out-of-court identification, as it was a violation of due process. (R. p. 36.) Specifically, the defense moved to suppress the warrant on two grounds: 1) the initial arrest was illegal because the magistrate lacked probable cause to issue the warrant for Appellant's arrest as the identification was so faulty; and 2) even if the arrest was based on a valid warrant, the court should suppress the out-of-court identification that lead to a subsequently improper in-court identification that occurred in trial—a full eighteen months after the robbery—because of the highly suggestive nature of the identification made the entire set of events unreliable and a violation of Appellant's due process rights. (R. pp. 39, 74, 83-84.) After allowing the defense to make a proffer on these points (R. pp. 32-86), Judge Couch concluded that probable cause was sufficient, and denied defense counsel's first motion to suppress. (R. pp. 83-84.) Likewise, Judge Couch ruled against defense counsel's second motion to suppress the out-of-court identification because of the Investigator Bryant's suggestive actions. (R. pp. 84-85.) Defense counsel renewed its objection of the reliability of the identification. (R. pp. 90, 101.) In the presence of the jury, Mr. Harrison was allowed to identify Appellant as the second perpetrator. (R. p. 102.) The following appeal focuses on the second ground stated *supra*, the highly suggestive identifications, which were improperly admitted at trial over the timely objections of the Appellant's trial counsel.

C. Discussion

I. Did the trial court's admission of an out-of-court identification of Appellant deprive him of due process where the witness only identified Appellant after a highly suggestive identification procedure where

Appellant's photograph was the only one shown by local news media, and did the trial court also err in admitting the in-court identification of Appellant where the witness only viewed Appellant for less than forty-five seconds during a high-stress encounter after the witness shot and killed another perpetrator?

Publication of Appellant's photograph in the news media resulted in an unnecessarily suggestive out-of-court identification, which was allowed at trial, and following that unduly suggestive out-of-court identification, the witness also identified Appellant in the presence of the jury. This constituted reversible error.

Investigator Jason Bryant of the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Department contacted Justin Harrison, a witness to the Waffle House robbery, over the telephone three days after the crime. During this phone call, Investigator Bryant elicited a faulty identification, which was highly conducive to irreparable mistaken identification. This phone call gave rise to the following issues that underscore the strongly suggestive nature of the call and subsequent identification: a) Mr. Harrison was never provided any alternative person to identify, whether in photographs or in person, by either law enforcement or the news media—Appellant's image was the only one Mr. Harrison ever viewed; b) Investigator Bryant failed to query Mr. Harrison about how long and how clearly Mr. Harrison observed the second perpetrator at Waffle House; c) during the phone call, inquiry was made into how recently and how clearly Mr. Harrison observed the media's photograph of Appellant; and, d) the intense local news coverage and clouded the ability of Mr. Harrison to make a proper identification of any suspect, including Appellant, especially combined with the other factors.

Because it is likely that the out-of-court and subsequent in-court identifications of Appellant played a significant role in the jury's determination of Appellant's guilt, the presentation of that evidence constitutes a reversible error as a violation of due process

of law. Appellant therefore requests reversal of the trial court's admission of these identifications and further requests remand for a new trial.

An identification procedure that is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification violates an individual's right to due process of law. *Stovall v. Denno*, 388 U.S. 293 (1967); *State v. Moore*, 343 S.C. 282, 286, 540 S.E.2d 445, 447 (2000). *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188 (1992) created a two-prong inquiry to determine the admissibility of out-of-court identifications. First, a court must ascertain whether the identification process was unduly suggestive. *Id.* at 198. Then the court must determine whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. *Id.*¹

When an out-of-court identification is both highly suggestive and likely to result in an irreparable misrepresentation, then the subsequent in-court identification may be excluded as well. *See State v. Moore*, 343 S.C. at 287, 540 S.E.2d at 448 ("An in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.").

While considering problematic identifications, this Court held that the underlying rationale in excluding identifications resulting from situations where the police have engaged in unnecessarily suggestive confrontations is to deter the police from using these less reliable procedures. *State v. Tisdale*, 338 S.C. 607, 612, 527 S.E.2d 389, 392

¹ To determine the degree of reliability of the identification, the following factors should be considered: (1) the witness's opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime; (2) the witness's degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the perpetrator; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness; and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 199, 93 S.Ct. at 382; *State v. Stewart*, 275 S.C. 447, 450, 272 S.E.2d 628, 629 (1980). The "central question" for a reviewing court is to determine "whether under the totality of the circumstances the identification was reliable even though the confrontation procedure was suggestive." *State v. Stewart*, 275 S.C. at 450, 272 S.E.2d at 629.

(Ct. App. 2000). Because of this focus on police conduct, this Court also held that the *Biggers, supra* analysis is inapplicable when the identification source is non-governmental as the goal of police deterrence would not be achieved. *Id.* Nevertheless, this Court recognized that a defendant's due process rights may be violated "where the mind of a witness is so clouded by suggestions from nongovernment sources that a conviction based principally on the testimony of that witness violates due process." *Id.* at 613, 527 S.E.2d at 392 (quoting *United States v. Peele*, 574 F.2d 489, 491 (9th Cir. 1978)). In determining whether the defendant's due process rights were violated in *Tisdale*, this Court examined the time between the crime and the media identification, the opportunity the witnesses had to observe the perpetrator during the crime, the cross-examination of the witnesses during the trial, and the other evidence presented against the defendant. *Id.* at 614-615, 527 S.E.2d at 393.²

Improperly admitted evidence, like an improper identification, is prejudicial when the identification is in dispute, and conflicting testimony is put before the jury concerning the identity of the accused. See *S.C. State Highway Dep't v. Graydon*, 246 S.C. 509, 511, 144 S.E.2d 484, 485 (1965) ("Ordinarily, the admission of incompetent evidence having some probative value upon a material issue of fact in the case is presumed to be prejudicial . . . assum[ing] the existence of testimony both ways upon a disputed issue, and is based upon the possibility that the verdict of the jury may have

² In *Tisdale*, 338 S.C. at 614, 527 S.E.2d at 393, the amount of time between the crime and the media identifications was less than twenty-four hours and the witnesses testified they had ample time to observe the perpetrator. One witness testified to being three feet away from the robber, while a second witness testified to being only inches away, and a third witness testified she was only a few feet from the robber. *Id.* One witness testified that she had a clear view of the robber and that the bank was well-lit. *Id.* Finally, and perhaps most importantly, all three witnesses testified they were certain of their identifications due to the robber's distinctive chin structure. *Id.* Concerning the other direct evidence of the crime, the prosecution introduced a videotape of the robbery. *Id.* at 615, 527 S.E.2d at 393.

been influenced, to the prejudice of the complaining party, by the improperly admitted evidence”); *see also Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967) (“[B]efore a federal constitutional error can be held harmless, the court must be able to declare a belief that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.”). The materiality and prejudicial character of the error arise out of the circumstances of the entire case, and the South Carolina Supreme Court has held that no definite rule of governs the finding than error was harmless, as such a consideration of the underlying facts is necessary. *See State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 193–94, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990).

At trial, Judge Couch allowed an unnecessarily suggestive out-of-court identification of the Appellant, which led to a flawed in court identification. When Investigator Bryant called Mr. Harrison, his intent was to confirm the identity of the second perpetrator, who had previously been identified on the local television news. (R. p. 37.) Mr. Harrison stated he previously saw the news, and agreed that was the same individual. (R. p. 98.) However, no other attempts to perform any other identification occurred. (R. p. 37.) No lineups were conducted, and no other photographs were shown to Mr. Harrison or any other witness. (*Id.*) The Spartanburg County Sheriff’s Department relied only on the over-the-phone and out-of-court identification conducted by Investigator Bryant. Such identification was unnecessarily suggestive as the only purpose of the phone call to Mr. Harrison was to seek confirmation that the only suspect reported in connection with the crime was in fact the other individual in the Waffle House on January 21, 2012 with Mr. Williams.

The identification provided by Mr. Harrison, both out-of-court, should have been found unreliable by the trial court under the *Biggers* factors. Mr. Harrison testified that he “probably” viewed the second robber for thirty to forty-five seconds, while standing

within a “couple of feet” away from him. (R. pp. 87-88.) Mr. Harrison was also engaged in an admittedly scary altercation with the second perpetrator that would certainly affect his ability to reliably identify the Appellant or any other potential suspect. (R. p. 105.) Further affecting the reliability of the identification, Mr. Harrison “wrestled [the second perpetrator] through the door,” and while wrestling, the two were facing “the same way” (and apparently not face-to-face), potentially preventing a clear view of the second perpetrator’s unmasked face. (R. p.107, lines 20-22.)

At trial, Mr. Harrison described the second robber as “short, small build, and the only way to describe his eyes was like a sad puppy,” with a “very dark” complexion and a thick mustache. (R. p. 91, lines 6-9.) During cross-examination, however, Mr. Harrison testified further that he provided a statement to police immediately after the robbery on the morning of January 21st, but did not include any information about the amount of time he viewed the second robber, nor did he provide any details related to the individual’s height, weight, or appearance of his eyes. (R. pp. 92-93.) Mr. Harrison could not recall for how long, if at all, whether the second robber wore a mask over his face, likewise affecting his ability to reliably identify Appellant. (R. pp. 93-94.) During the events at the Waffle House, Mr. Harrison admitted to being scared, which would reasonably limit his ability to reliably identify Appellant. (R. p. 105.) As such, the totality of the circumstances indicates that the identification was not reliable under the guidelines created in *Biggers*.

This out-of-court identification was patently unreliable, as it created a strong possibility of misidentification because the media previously reported that the Appellant was a suspect and there was no other person but Appellant for Mr. Harrison (or any other witness) to identify. Therefore, while not a traditional lineup, the entire

confrontation procedure was unduly suggestive. The identification was aided by media, and the nongovernment sources here clouded the ability of Mr. Harrison to properly identify a suspect, which was bolstered by the suggestive procedures employed by Investigator Bryant. Unlike in *Tisdale* where the witnesses provided the identification less than twenty-four hours after the crime, the identification here occurred a full three days after the witness observed the potential suspect at the Waffle House, increasing the likelihood of misidentification.

The suggestive influence of the news media, the nongovernment source in this instance, was obviously strong as this case drew high levels of coverage. Without any safeguards from law enforcement, this identification is prone to the ‘clouding’ that *Tisdale* warned. Again unlike *Tisdale* where the witnesses described the distinctive chin of the suspect, Mr. Harrison did not provide any details about distinctive characteristics of the second perpetrator’s face, like his “sad puppy” eyes or thick mustache, until trial. Mr. Harrison also stated during cross-examination that he never provided any indication of the lighting in the Waffle House at the time of the robbery, whereas in *Tisdale* all three witnesses testified to the bank being well-lit. (R. pp. 92-93.) Furthermore, Mr. Harrison was placed in an undoubtedly stressful situation, after taking the life of another person, and within seconds was involved in a difficult struggle with the second perpetrator. These factors, compared to *Tisdale* where the witnesses were able to passively view the suspect in a well-lit environment, do not indicate that Mr. Harrison was able to obtain a clear observation of the second perpetrator.

In *Tisdale*, this Court also considered the direct evidence presented. In this case, the surveillance video only established that two black males robbed the Waffle House. In addition, the State was also able to offer black clothing that allegedly was worn during