ORIGINALS

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County  
The Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001690

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

KENNETH JOWAN CRAIG,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE  
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia St.  
Spartanburg, SC 29306  
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

APR 29 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Spartanburg County

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court was within its discretion when it denied Appellant's motion to suppress and admitted into evidence the out-of-court identification and the in-court identification by the witness because the identification was not tainted by suggestive governmental involvement.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred by allowing an unnecessarily suggestive out-of-court identification based on publication of Appellant's photograph in the news media that led to an in-court identification of Appellant in the presence of the jury. He also claims the in-court identification was in error because the witness only viewed Appellant for less than forty-five seconds during a high-stress encounter after killing another perpetrator. To the contrary, the trial court properly overruled Appellant's objection to the out-of-court identification. Furthermore, Appellant did not object to witness Harrison's in-court identification of Appellant. Thus, that portion of the argument is not preserved for appellate review.

### Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts only review errors of law. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). "Whether an eyewitness identification is sufficiently reliable is a mixed question of law and fact. In reviewing mixed questions of law and fact, where the evidence supports but one reasonable inference, the question becomes a matter of law for the court." State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 137-38, 727 S.E.2d 422, 425 (2012). "Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is at the trial judge's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such, or the commission of prejudicial legal error." State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000).

### Preservation

“Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review.” In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009). If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial court, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). The appellate court will not consider any issues that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial court. State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970). “Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000). An objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error. State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 446, 710 S.E.2d 55, 59 (2011). Appellant’s issue on appeal regarding the trial court’s admission of Harrison’s in-court identification is not preserved for review.

### Merits

“The admission of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court.” State v. Tisdale, 338 S.C. 607, 611, 527 S.E.2d 389, 391 (Ct. App. 2000); see also State v. Tucker, 319 S.C. 425, 462 S.E.2d 263 (1995); State v. Brown, 333 S.C. 185, 508 S.E.2d 38 (Ct. App. 1998). “Accordingly, a trial court’s decision to allow the in-court identification of an accused will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion or prejudicial legal error.” Id. at 611, 527 S.E.2d at 392. “An in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.” Id. (citations and quotation marks omitted).

“A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification.” State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004). In Neil v. Biggers, the United States Supreme Court set forth a two-part test for courts to use in determining whether due process requires suppression of an eyewitness identification. 409 U.S. 188, 198 (1972). First, the court must determine whether the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive **police procedures**. Id. (emphasis added). If so, the court must then determine whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Id.

“Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is in the trial [court]’s discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion, or the commission of prejudicial legal error.” State v. Brown, 356 S.C. 496, 502, 589 S.E.2d 781, 784 (Ct. App. 2003); see also State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 77, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263 (Ct. App. 2000). A trial judge should only exclude the identification evidence if there is “a **very substantial** likelihood of irreparable misidentification.” Perry v. New Hampshire, 132 S. Ct. 716, 720 (2012) (emphasis added and citation omitted).

In Perry v. New Hampshire, 132 S. Ct. 716, 730 (2012), the United States Supreme Court held the due process clause does not require a preliminary judicial inquiry into the reliability of an eyewitness identification when the identification was not procured under unnecessarily suggestive circumstances arranged by law enforcement.

When no improper law enforcement activity is involved, we hold, it suffices to test reliability through the rights and opportunities generally designed for that purpose, notably, the presence of counsel at postindictment lineups, vigorous cross-examination, protective rules of evidence, and jury instructions on both the fallibility of eyewitness

identification and the requirement that guilt be proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

Id. at 721.

In the case sub judice, a Neil v. Biggers hearing was not necessary because there was no government-sponsored identification procedure. Nevertheless, Harrison's testimony at the hearing provided details about his identification of Appellant and his opportunity to view him. He testified he saw the second robber, Appellant, for thirty to forty-five seconds during which they were within a couple of feet of each other. (R. p.87, line 22-R. p.88, line 4.) Harrison testified that when he had Appellant backed into the corner, Appellant did not have anything obstructing his face and he was able to get a clear look at Appellant's face. (R. p.32, lines 7-18.) He explained how Appellant started crawling toward Williams and eventually wrestled Harrison out the interior door. (R. p.30, line 2-R. p.31, line 2.) Harrison testified Appellant put his hands on Harrison's gun, at which time Harrison pulled the trigger. (R. p.31, lines 2-5.) He confirmed that when he saw the picture on the news, he was 100% certain without a doubt that it was the man from the robbery. (R. p.90, lines 1-5.) Appellant attempts to argue Harrison's fear would "reasonably limit his ability to reliably identify Appellant." (App. Br. 14.) To the contrary, this Court has recognized in that under circumstances such as an armed robbery, specifically where a gun is being held to a victim's head, the victim's attention would have been heightened. State v. Govan, 372 S.C. 552, 560, 643 S.E.2d 92, 96 (Ct. App. 2007). See also State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 252, 525 S.E.2d 535, 541-42 (Ct. App. 1999) ("A person in fear of his life presumably has a more acute degree of attention to his surroundings than a mere passerby.").

In State v. Tisdale, 338 S.C. 607, 611-15, 527 S.E.2d 389, 391-94 (Ct. App. 2000), this Court considered the effect of nongovernmental media photographs on the witnesses' identifications. Three bank tellers witnessed an armed robbery. Prior to law enforcement having an opportunity to show them a photo lineup, each teller notified police she had seen Tisdale either on the television news or in a newspaper photograph and identified him as the robber. Id. at 610, 527 S.E.2d at 391. Accordingly, the police found it unnecessary to conduct a photo lineup. Id.

This Court found the pretrial identification of Tisdale by the three tellers was properly admitted because the television and newspaper were nongovernmental sources of the suggestiveness. Id. at 611-15, 527 S.E.2d at 391-94. "The purpose of a strict rule barring evidence of unnecessarily suggestive confrontations would be to deter the police from using a less reliable procedure where a more reliable one may be available . . . ." Id. at 612, 527 S.E.2d at 392 (quoting Neil, 409 U.S. at 199). This Court pointed out "the impetus behind the harsh remedy of exclusion is police deterrence, concluding that while "the reliability of an identification may be affected by media identification, no police deterrence would be achieved by excluding evidence where there has been no governmental involvement." Id. Consequently, this Court held "that the Neil analysis is inapplicable where there is a nongovernmental identification source[.]" and determined the trial judge did not err in allowing the tellers' identification testimony. Id. at 612-13, 527 S.E.2d at 392.

The Tisdale court pointed out that all the tellers were fully cross-examined and determined "[t]he extent to which a suggestion from nongovernment sources has influenced the memory or perception of the witness, or the ability of the witness to articulate or relate the identifying characteristics of the accused, is a proper issue for the

trier of fact to determine.” Id. at 613, 527 S.E.2d at 393 (citations and quotation marks omitted). This Court addressed factors such as the time between the crime and the media identification, the time the witnesses had to observe the robber, whether the view was obstructed, and the certainty of the witnesses’ identifications. Additionally, this Court discussed the other evidence in the case, including a videotape of the robbery, Tisdale’s car being seen near the scene of the robbery, another eyewitness’s testimony he saw a black male driving the car, testimony the robber used a beige grocery bag in the robbery that matched one found in Tisdale’s trunk, and evidence of a scar. For all these reasons, this Court affirmed the trial court’s allowance of the identification testimony.

This case is almost identical to the facts of Tisdale. Harrison saw Appellant’s photograph on the news and, before police could conduct a lineup, identified Appellant as the second robber 100% without a doubt. Additionally, the trial court addressed some of the same factors the trial court did in Tisdale: time to observe perpetrator, distance from perpetrator, whether view was obstructed, and certainty of identification. Just as in Tisdale, the police used the identification the witness made through the news source to identify the appellant. Furthermore, this was not a case “where the mind of a witness is so clouded by suggestions from nongovernment sources that a conviction based principally on the testimony of that witness violates due process.” Tisdale, 338 S.C. at 613, 527 S.E.2d at 392. Appellant was allowed to cross-examine Harrison about his opportunity to view Appellant and his viewing Appellant’s photograph on the news. Appellant questioned Harrison extensively before the jury about his view of Appellant, including how long he saw him, whether his face was obstructed by a mask, and how close to each other they were. (R. p.93, line 25-R. p.100, line 18.) Harrison saw Appellant for thirty to forty-five seconds; the witnesses in Tisdale saw the appellant

between thirty and forty-five seconds. Harrison testified he was a couple of feet away from the second robber at one point and was within an arm's length when Appellant put both his hands on Harrison's pistol; the witnesses in Tisdale testified to anywhere from a few inches away to three feet away from the appellant. The other evidence in this case is also similar to Tisdale. Other evidence included a videotape of the robbery; witnesses who heard Appellant planning a mission with Williams, dressing in all black, and leaving the house with Williams; and gunshot residue on Appellant's clothing.

In sum, in a case such as this where no law enforcement arrangement led to the identification, no hearing was required. As Perry v. New Hampshire held:

When no improper law enforcement activity is involved, we hold, it suffices to test reliability through the rights and opportunities generally designed for that purpose, notably, the presence of counsel at postindictment lineups, vigorous cross-examination, protective rules of evidence, and jury instructions on both the fallibility of eyewitness identification and the requirement that guilt be proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

Perry at 721. The trial court correctly allowed Appellant to explore through cross-examination the influence the nongovernmental source of the media photograph may have had on Harrison's identification of Appellant. Then, the extent to which any possible suggestion influenced Harrison's memory or perception of Appellant, or his ability to articulate or relate Appellant's identifying characteristics, was reserved as a proper issue for the jury as the trier of fact. See Tisdale, 338 S.C. at 613, 527 S.E.2d at 393. Moreover, the trial court instructed the jury extensively on eyewitness identification and reasonable doubt. (R. p.184, line 19-R. p.186, line 9; R. p.191, line 8-R. p.192, line 13.) Therefore, the trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion to suppress Harrison's out-of-court identification.

**CONCLUSION**